Secured Commercial Paper Facility (UK)

Claire E. Simon¹

August 22, 2017

Updated March 15, 2020

Abstract

In mid-2009, the Bank of England (Bank) opened the Secured Commercial Paper Facility (SCPF) as part of its larger Asset Purchase Facility (APF). Through the facility, the Bank offered to purchase secured commercial paper (SCP), a form of asset-backed commercial paper, issued by approved programs from both dealers acting as principle in the primary market and after issue from secondary market holders. The facility was designed to establish the Bank as a ready buyer of SCP in the primary market and as a backstop purchaser in the secondary market. In extending the APF to include purchases of SCP, the Bank aimed to give smaller companies and companies below investment grade quality access to funding, and to improve access to short term working capital for companies that impacted the UK economy. To be eligible to participate, programs had to have underlying assets that provided short-term credit to borrowers making a material contribution to the UK economy. Only one program was deemed eligible, and the Bank made regular, small purchases of SCP from that program between November 2010 and November 2011. The SCPF was formally closed on August 4, 2016.

Keywords: secured commercial paper, backstop purchaser, Bank of England

¹ Research Associate, Yale Program on Financial Stability. claire.simon@yale.edu

Secured Commercial Paper Facility

At a Glance

In order to increase the availability of credit to corporate borrowers during the global financial crisis, in January 2009, Her Majesty's Treasury authorized the Bank of England (Bank) to begin purchasing private assets through a newly created Asset Purchase Facility (APF). The Bank soon began purchasing investment grade commercial sterling paper under the Commercial Paper Facility (CPF), but excluded commercial asset-backed paper from participation. In August, after soliciting advice on extending the APF, the Bank opened the Secured

Summary of Key Terms	
Purpose: to improve the function of markets	
for the raising of short-te	erm working capital
Announcement Date	July 30, 2009
Facility Opened	August 3, 2009
Facility Closed	August 4, 2016
Peak Quarterly Purchases	£30 million
Managadha	Deals of Freedow d UM
Managed by	Bank of England, HM Treasury

Commercial Paper Facility (SCPF) through which it offered to purchase secured commercial paper (SCP), a form of asset-backed commercial paper, from eligible programs in both the primary and secondary market.

Though the operational format for the SCPF was largely identical to that of the CPF, there were some important distinctions. Purchases under the SCPF were restricted to programs with underlying assets that provided credit to borrowers that made a material contribution to economic activity in the UK. In addition, limits were set regarding the weighted average life and the final maturity of programs' assets. The Bank intended for the SCPF to be temporary, and stated that it would provide a 12 month notice of the SCPF's withdrawal once it was satisfied that liquidity had returned to corporate credit markets. Only one program was deemed eligible for participation in the SCPF, and the Bank made modest purchases of SCP between November 2010 and November 2011. The SCPF was formally closed on August 4, 2016.

Summary Evaluation

The SCPF was dwarfed in size by the CPF, Corporate Bond Secondary Market Scheme, and the Bank's gilt purchases through the APF, and thus SCPF has been ignored in assessments of those purchases.

Contents

Table of Contents

I.	I. Overview	
	Background4	
	Program Description4	
	Outcomes5	
II.	Key Design Decisions	
	1. SCPF intended to improve the function of markets for the raising of short-term working capital	
	2. The CPF was announced without a size limit and an end-date6	
	3. The Bank purchased a minimum of £1 million of secured commercial paper from eligible programs	
	4. Programs were required to have underlying assets that provided credit to borrowers making a contribution to UK economy7	
	 Only secured commercial paper backed by short-term assets was eligible for purchase under the SCPF	
	6. Purchases were discounted based on the OIS rate to establish the Bank as a backstop purchaser of secured commercial paper7	
	7. The Bank restricted the amount of secured commercial paper it would buy from a given program	
II	l. Evaluation	
IV	7. References	
V.	Key Program Documents10	
	Summary of Program10	
	Implementation Documents10	
	Legal/Regulatory Guidance11	
	Press Releases/Announcements11	
	Media Stories11	
	Key Academic Papers11	
	Reports/Assessments11	

I. Overview

Background

In January 2009, Her Majesty's Treasury approved the Bank of England (Bank) to begin purchasing private assets to restore liquidity to corporate credit markets. Purchases were undertaken by the Bank through the Asset Purchase Facility (APF). One of the first programs announced under the APF was the Commercial Paper Facility (CPF). Through the CPF, the Bank purchased sterling-denominated, investment grade commercial paper at issue from dealers in the primary market and from secondary market holders. However, asset-backed commercial paper was not eligible for sale into the facility (Bank of England, "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility," 2009). In mid-2009, the Bank began to explore whether the APF could be extended in order to improve access to short term working capital for companies making a material contribution to the UK economy through purchases of asset-backed commercial paper (Bank of England, "Asset Purchase Facility: Consultation on Proposals for Working Capital Facilities," 2009).

Program Description

In July 2009, the Bank announced that they would begin purchasing secured commercial paper (SCP) under a new Secured Commercial Paper Facility (SCPF). Secured commercial paper (SCP) can be defined as, "a form of asset-backed commercial paper (ABCP) based on a bundle of relatively short-term loans to a variety of borrowers," (Fisher 2010). In extending the APF to purchase SCP, the Bank aimed to provide access to funding for smaller companies and companies below investment grade credit-quality that may have been excluded from earlier asset purchase programs like the CPF (Bank of England, "News Release: Asset Purchase Facility," November 15, 2010).

Similar to the CPF, the Bank became a ready purchaser of high quality assets from dealers acting as principle and served as a backstop purchaser in the secondary market. SCP programs had to apply to the Bank in order to participate in the program. In assessing a program's eligibility, the Bank carefully examined its underlying assets, the maturity of the underlying asset pools, the potential credit risk, and the program's contribution to the UK economy (Bank of England, "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility – Secured Commercial Paper Facility," 2009).

The Bank specified that direct short-term credit to companies and short-term credit to consumers would likely fit the SCPF's asset criteria. It also cautioned that pools with term asset-backed securities (ABS) bonds², emerging market transactions, and synthetic assets would generally render a program ineligible. The term ABS bonds restriction aligned with the Bank's desire to purchase short-term assets. To be eligible for the facility, a program's assets could not have a weighted average life over nine months, and no single underlying asset could have an expected final maturity of more than a year and a half ("Bank of

 $^{^{\}rm 2}$ Compared to CPFF in the U.S. very restrictive. Any lessons learned from the CPFF example that was implemented here?

England, "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility – Secured Commercial Paper Facility," 2009).

Once a program was deemed eligible by the Bank, it offered to purchase sterlingdenominated SCP with a maturity of one week to nine months via dealers in the primary market and with an original maturity of nine months or less from investors in the secondary market. The minimum individual security the Bank would purchase was £1 million nominal. The bank restricted the proportion of a program's outstanding securities that were eligible for purchase by the SCPF. The Bank defined this limit as, "based on the proportion of the underlying assets in the programme providing credit to borrowers that make a material contribution to economic activity in the UK," ("Bank of England, "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility – Secured Commercial Paper Facility," 2009). Purchases under the SCPF could be financed by advances from the Debt Management Office or by central bank reserves as part of the Monetary Policy Committee's quantitative easing program (Bank of England, "Asset Purchase Facility: Consultation on Proposals for Working Capital Facilities," 2009).

Pricing for the facility was established at a spread above the risk-free rate, which was determined by the Bank daily based on the maturity-matched overnight index swap (OIS) curve. The Bank discounted purchases in the primary market based on the maturity-matched OIS rate. When the facility was opened, the Bank announced that it would purchase SCP at issue from dealers at a 100bp spread to the OIS rate. For secondary holders, the Bank purchased SCP at the lower of the above described primary market pricing mechanism and the amortized cost from the security's issue price. The Bank also charged secondary holders selling SCP to the facility an additional 25bp fee ("Bank of England, "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility – Secured Commercial Paper Facility," 2009).

Outcomes

The Bank acknowledged that because the SCPF's eligibility criteria was narrow, it would take some time for institutions to establish SCP programs that could participate in the facility (Bank of England, "Asset Purchase Facility: Quarterly Report 2009 Q4," 2009). In November 2010, the Bank announced that a program had been deemed eligible for participation in the SCPF and that it would begin purchases shortly (Bank of England, "News Release: Asset Purchase Facility," November 15, 2010). The program continued to draw on the facility through the fourth quarter of 2011. The SCPF made regular, small purchases of SCP from the program, financed by a deposit from the DMO. No total purchases in a single quarter exceeded £30 million (Bank of England, "Asset Purchase Quarterly Report," 2010-2011). The SCPF was formally closed on August 4, 2016 (Bank of England, "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility: Corporate Bond Purchase Scheme," 2016).

II. Key Design Decisions

1. SCPF intended to improve the function of markets for the raising of short-term working capital

As an extension of the CPF, the SCPF conducted purchases in both the primary and secondary markets. The Bank purchased SCP at a spread to the OIS rate and charged secondary market holders a fee, which was similar to the pricing mechanism of the CPF. Both the CPF and the SCPF were designed to assist companies that made material contributions to the UK economy, and both facilities restricted participation to commercial paper that was sterling denominated. As detailed below, the SCPF was established to purchase short-term assets. In his authorization of asset purchases, the Chancellor of the Exchequer required that the Bank solely purchase assets for which there would be a viable demand once corporate credit markets recovered (Darling 2009). As a result, both the CPF and SCPF established credit rating requirements. For the SCPF, the Bank required that programs have a short-term credit rating of A-1/P1/F1 or higher (Bank of England, "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility – Secured Commercial Paper Facility," 2009). Split ratings with one rating lower than minimum disqualified the program but ratings on negative watch did not. (Mayer Brown 2009)

Though the two facilities were designed similarly, they were funded differently. The CPF was originally funded by Treasury bills issued by the Debt Management Office (DMO), but its funding source changed once the Bank began quantitative easing shortly after the facility opened. From that point until the facility was closed, all purchases were funded by the creation of new central bank money (Benford et al. 2009). The SCPF, in contrast, was only ever funded by Treasury bills issued by the DMO (Bank of England, "Asset Purchase Quarterly Report," 2010-2011).

In extending the SCPF, the Bank solicited consultation and comments from the interested industry participants through a consultative paper put forth on June 8, 2009.

2. The CPF was announced without a size limit and an end-date.

CPF was a part of an Asset Purchase Facility (APF) which had a ceiling initially set at £50 billion. However, for CPR, rather than setting a specific timeline or target purchase amount the Bank of England designed the facility to last, for as long as the highly abnormal conditions in corporate credit markets that were impairing finance of real economic activity persisted. (Bank of England, "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility," 2009)

3. The Bank purchased a minimum of £1 million of secured commercial paper from eligible programs.

Sponsors of programs who wanted to sell SCP had to apply to the Bank in order to be deemed eligible for the SCPF. In assessing eligibility, the Bank carefully examined a program's underlying assets. Once a program was accepted for participation in the SCPF, the Bank offered to purchase individual securities of at least £1 million. Program sponsors were required to provide the Bank with regular updates on the program's assets, and sponsors could not add new asset pools into the program vehicle without first contacting

the Bank ("Bank of England, "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility – Secured Commercial Paper Facility," 2009).

The Bank acknowledged that, given the strict eligibility requirements, it could take some time to establish programs that could participate in the SCPF. As a result, the Bank announced that it would wait to give the required 12-month notice of termination of the SCPF until at least the third month after the Facility opened. Ultimately, the SCPF did not close until 2016 ("Bank of England, "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility – Secured Commercial Paper Facility," 2009).

4. Programs were required to have underlying assets that provided credit to borrowers making a contribution to UK economy

The Bank of England set up the SCPF specifically to purchase SCP that "assist[ed] in the provision of credit to support economic activity in the UK." The Bank determined whether a program supported economic activity in the UK by examining its underlying assets. While the SCP had to be sterling denominated, there was no currency restriction on the underlying assets ("Bank of England, "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility – Secured Commercial Paper Facility," 2009).

The Bank gave the following examples of assets that would likely meet its requirements: trade receivables, equipment leases, credit card receivables, and short-term loans to consumers (Bank of England, "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility – Secured Commercial Paper Facility," 2009)

5. Only secured commercial paper backed by short-term assets was eligible for purchase under the SCPF

The SCPF sought to purchase SCP backed by assets that provided short-term credit to companies and consumers in the UK. On the other hand, the Bank was concerned not to encourage the sort of risk taking from extreme maturity transformation which had caused so many problems leading up to the crisis. Therefore, a restriction was put in place on the degree of maturity mismatch between the underlying assets and the securities they backed. (Fisher 2010) A program was only considered eligible for the SCPF if the weighted average life of its underlying assets was less than nine months, and no single underlying asset could have an expected final maturity of over a year and a half. (Bank of England, "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility – Secured Commercial Paper Facility," 2009).

Additionally, eligible SCP must have been issued through Crest, Euroclear or Clearstream, does not have non-standard features such as extendible maturity or subordination, and the Bank ensured appropriate diversification of asset pools. (Mayer Brown 2009) However, any announcement on specific diversity requirements have not been found.

6. Purchases were discounted based on the OIS rate to establish the Bank as a backstop purchaser of secured commercial paper.

As discussed earlier, the Bank discounted purchases in the primary market based on the OIS curve. It published the discount rate online daily. When the SCPF opened, the Bank offered to purchase SCP at a 100bp spread to the OIS rate at issue from dealers. For

purchases from counterparties on the secondary market, the Bank purchased assets at the lower of the price determined by this method or the amortized cost from issue price. Secondary counterparties, unlike primary issuers, were charged a 25bp fee (Bank of England, "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility – Secured Commercial Paper Facility," 2009).

This pricing structure was similar to that of the CPF, which purchased commercial paper "at spreads which were significantly below those in the market at the time, but which were significantly above those expected to prevail in normal conditions," (Fisher 2010). It also aligned with the Bank's stated intention to maintain the SCPF only as long as "the highly abnormal conditions in corporate credit markets persist and materially impair the financing of real economic activity," (Bank of England, "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility – Secured Commercial Paper Facility," 2009). Establishing prices that were attractive during the credit crunch but that would become less appealing as liquidity was restored was consistent with the explicitly stated purpose of the SCPF to establish the Bank as a "backstop purchaser," (Bank of England, "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility – Secured Commercial Paper Facility," 2009).

7. The Bank restricted the amount of secured commercial paper it would buy from a given program

Consistent with its stated purpose, the Bank imposed limits on purchases under the SCPF based on the proportion of a program's underlying assets that provided credit to borrowers making a material contribution to the UK economy ("Bank of England, "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility – Secured Commercial Paper Facility," 2009). In its proposal for extending the APF to purchase SCP, the Bank gave the following example: "if 80% of the assets met the criterion, up to 80% of the securities issued by the programme would be eligible for purchase," (Bank of England, "Asset Purchase Facility: Consultation on Proposals for Working Capital Facilities," 2009). This provision differed from the US asset purchase program, which required that issuers be US entities or subsidiaries of US entities, but did not establish rules regarding underlying assets or the degree to which those underlying assets contributed to the US credit market (Mayer Brown, "Bank of England Announces UK Secured Commercial Paper Facility," 2009).

This provision was the only restriction placed on the amount the Bank would buy under the SCPF. This reflected the Bank's desire to act as a backstop purchaser, or market maker of last resort, until liquidity returned to SCP markets (Bank of England, "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility – Secured Commercial Paper Facility," 2009). The decision not to set a limit for the amount of purchases through the SCPF was also consistent with the Bank's overall strategy concerning asset purchases, which "was not to purchase a specific quantity of assets, but rather to improve the functioning of those markets. In that respect, the knowledge that the Bank stands ready to purchase assets may be as beneficial as actual purchases," (Dale 2010).

III. Evaluation

The SCPF has been largely ignored in studies of the Bank of England's Asset Purchase Facility. Its quarterly purchases oscillated between £25m and £30m in the year it conducted regular asset purchases from November 2010 to November 2011 (Bank of England, "Asset Purchase Quarterly Report," 2010-2011). The facility was not used in 2009 or the first three quarters of 2010, which the Bank partially attributed to changes in market conditions. Normalized pricing in the US asset-backed commercial paper market meant that existing programs could fund themselves and had the capacity to fund further assets, which rendered the need to create new programs for participation in the UK SCPF obsolete (Bank of England, "Asset Purchase Facility: Quarterly Report 2009 Q4," 2009).

Mayer Brown 2009 points out some design flaws with SCPF. First is that its relatively narrow eligibility criteria may have limited its use. It specifically notes that (1) the eligibility issue could deter usage as a backstop since if investors could not identify the eligible portion then they might be reluctant to rely on the SCPF as a "backstop" to purchase or roll over the CP they hold; and (2) the requirements limited the extent to which existing ABCP programmes can use the SCPF. Second, the initial spread of 100 bps over OIS was considered to db expensive for some conduits in the current market. Lastly, a hard-to-implement concentration formula was presented in the consultation paper. (Mayer Brown 2009)

IV. References

Bank of England. 2009. "Asset Purchase Facility: Consultation on Proposals for Working Capital Facilities."

http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/markets/Documents/apf/consultation090608.pdf

Bank of England. 2010-2011. "Asset Purchase Facility: Quarterly Report." http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/publications/Pages/other/markets/apf/quarterlyreport .aspx

Bank of England. 2009. "Asset Purchase Facility: Quarterly Report 2009 Q4." http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/publications/Documents/other/markets/apf/apfquarte rlyreport1001.pdf

Bank of England. 2009. "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility." http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/markets/Documents/marketnotice090213.pdf

Bank of England. 2009. "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility – Secured Commercial Paper Facility."

http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/markets/Documents/marketnotice090730.pdf

Bank of England. 2016. "Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility: Corporate Bond Purchase Scheme."

http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/markets/Documents/marketnotice160804apfcbps.pdf

Bank of England. November 15, 2010. "News Release: Asset Purchase Facility." http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/archive/Documents/historicpubs/news/2010/088.pdf

Benford, James, Stuart Berry, Kalin Nikolov, Chris Young, and Mark Robson. 2009. "Quantitative easing." *Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin*, 49(2): 90-100. https://www.bankofengland.co.uk/quarterly-bulletin/2009/q2/quantitative-easing

Dale, Spencer. 2010. "QE - One Year On." Speech given at CIMF and MMF Conference,
Cambridge,UK,March122010.http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/archive/Documents/historicpubs/speeches/2010/spee
ch428.pdfch428.pdf

Darling, Alistair. Letter to Mervyn King, January 29, 2009. http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20120803125245/http://www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/d/ck_letter_boe290109.pdf

Fisher, Paul. 2010. "The Corporate Sector and the Bank of England's Asset Purchases." Speech given at the Association of Corporate Treasurers Winter Paper 2010, February 18, 2010.

http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/archive/Documents/historicpubs/speeches/2010/spee ch423.pdf

Mayer Brown. 2009. "Bank of England Announces UK Secured Commercial Paper Facility." https://www.mayerbrown.com/files/Publication/2d8317dc-e125-4fe3-8be4-8e931ea7b47f/Presentation/PublicationAttachment/612660ac-36ef-440a-b9c4-2686132f3aa8/NEWSL_FINANCE_AUG0509_ALERT_BOFE.PDF

V. Key Program Documents

Summary of Program

<u>Asset Purchase Facility: Consultation on Proposals for Working Capital Facilities</u> – Bank of England document soliciting advice for creation of the SCPF http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/markets/Documents/apf/consultation090608.pdf

<u>Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility – Secured Commercial Paper Facility (July 30, 2009)</u> – Bank of England document outlining structure and guidelines of SCPF http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/markets/Documents/marketnotice090730.pdf

Bank of England Announces UK Secured Commercial Paper Facility– Mayer BrowndocumentsummarizingkeyprovisionsofSCPFhttps://www.mayerbrown.com/files/Publication/2d8317dc-e125-4fe3-8be4-8e931ea7b47f/Presentation/PublicationAttachment/612660ac-36ef-440a-b9c4-2686132f3aa8/NEWSL_FINANCE_AUG0509_ALERT_BOFE.PDF

Implementation Documents

<u>Terms and Conditions for Counterparties in the Bank of England's Asset Purchase Facility</u> – *Terms and conditions governing the SCPF dated July 29, 2009* http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/markets/Documents/apf/termsandconditions090730.p df <u>Settlement Procedures for Counterparties Participating in the Bank of England's Asset</u> <u>Purchase Facility (APF)</u> – *Settlement procedures governing the SCPF dated June 15, 2009* http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/markets/Documents/apf/settlementprocedures090615. pdf

<u>Asset Purchase Facility – Documentation</u> – *compilation of all previous APF documentation* http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/markets/Pages/apf/documentation.aspx

<u>SCPF Application Form</u> – *application required to determine eligibility for SCPF* http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/markets/apf/securedcpf/eligibility.htm

Legal/Regulatory Guidance

Press Releases/Announcements

Market Notice: Asset Purchase Facility: Corporate Bond Purchase Scheme - August 4, 2016BankofEnglandannouncementofSCPF'sformalclosinghttp://www.bankofengland.co.uk/markets/Documents/marketnotice160804apfcbps.pdf

<u>News Release: Asset Purchase Facility</u> – November 15, 2010 Bank of England announcement that a program had been approved for participation in SCPF http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/archive/Documents/historicpubs/news/2010/088.pdf

Media Stories

Key Academic Papers

Reports/Assessments

<u>Asset Purchase Facility: Quarterly Reports</u> – *all archived quarterly reports for the APF* http://www.bankofengland.co.uk/publications/Pages/other/markets/apf/quarterlyreport .aspx